1955

Theo Swan Hendee v. Walker Bank & Trust Co. et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The plaintiff and respondent will be referred to as contestant or in her own name, and defendants and appellants will be referred to collectively as proponents or individually in their own names.

All italics are ours.

The following appendices appear at the back of this Brief for the convenience of the court:

APPENDIX NO. 1

Last Will and Testament of Wilda Gail Swan.

APPENDIX NO. 2

Codicil to Last Will and Testament of Wilda Gail Swan.

APPENDIX NO. 3

Second codicil to Last Will and Testament of Wilda Gail Swan.

APPENDIX NO. 4

An exact duplicate of defendants' Exhibit 18, which is a graphic portrayal of the properties and devises involved in this will contest.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Wilda Gail Swan passed away on the 28th day of May, 1952 leaving a will signed on May 2, 1947, a codicil signed on February 20, 1950, and a codicil signed on April 23, 1951.

On the 5th day of June, 1952 the Walker Bank & Trust Company filed in the Third Judicial District Court

in and for Salt Lake County, Utah, a Petition for Probate of Will and Codicils, and for issuance of Letters Testamentary.

On June 25, 1952 Patricia P. Stewart testified as subscribing witness to the will and first codicil, and Adolph M. Neilsen, M.D., testified as subscribing witness to the second codicil. On the same date Judge Martin M. Larson signed an Order Admitting Will to Probate, and Letters Testamentary were issued to the Walker Bank & Trust Company as Executors of the Estate of Wilda Gail Swan, deceased.

Thereafter, on the 8th day of November, 1952, Theo Swan Hendee filed this action alleging generally that at the times of signing the will and codicils Wilda Gail Swan lacked testamentary capacity and was acting under the undue influence of Grant Macfarlane, her lawyer and a beneficiary in her will and codicils, and of Daniel Kostopulos, a friend and a beneficiary in the codicils, and praying that the will and codicils be declared null and void and that the entire estate be distributed to Theo Swan Hendee, as the only heir of the deceased. Thereafter, the defendants answered, in effect denying the allegations of the complaint and contest, and praying that the estate be distributed according to the terms of the will and codicils. The case was tried by the Honorable Parley E. Norseth, sitting without a jury. Thereafter, on the 14th day of May, 1954, the court made its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and entered judgment in favor

of the plaintiff denying probate of the will and codicils. On the 24th day of May, 1954 defendants, Grant Macfarlane and Daniel Kostopulos filed objections to the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and also a Motion for a new trial. On the 15th day of July, 1954 the trial court entered its Order denying said Motion for a new trial. On the 3rd day of August, 1954 said defendants filed their Notice of Appeal.

Inasmuch as the ultimate decision on appeal will depend to a large extent on whether the findings of the trial court are justified by the evidence, we deem it necessary to make a rather comprehensive statement of facts.

A Brief History

Wilda Gail Swan was born at Salt Lake City, Utah in 1890 (R. 94). Her sister and only heir-at-law, Theo Swan Hendee, was born in 1888 (R. 94). Gail's father was Ed Swan (R. 93). Her mother was Blanche Swan (R. 93).

Gail started life as a normal, healthy child. She began school in the year 1896 and continued until 1902 when she suffered a violent epileptic seizure (R. 95). From 1902 until 1917 Gail suffered from epileptic seizures of varying degrees of intensity. In 1917 a Dr. McGee, at Laramie, Wyoming, administered treatments which very much improved her condition (R. 100). During these years Gail did not attend school, although she did receive private tutoring from a Mrs. Sneddon (R. 140). Gail was never married, and due largely to her physical frailties, lived a secluded life (R. 101, 108, 131).

She and her parents moved to the family residence at 1335 Perry Avenue in 1922 (R. 104). From 1922 to 1931 Gail's mother was an invalid and required constant nursing care. Her mother died in 1931 (R. 107). During the years that followed Gail's general condition "improved a great deal" (R. 112).

Gail's father died after an extended illness at the Miners Hospital in Salt Lake City, Utah, on the 30th day of June, 1950 (R. 119). She continued to live at the family residence until her own death on the 28th day of May, 1952. Between her father's death and Gail's death, three different housekeepers stayed with her, the first being Mrs. Sheeran, the second Grace Folden, and the last Alice Wagstaff (R. 119).

During the last six years of her life, Gail was hospitalized five times, the last being approximately six weeks at the L.D.S. Hospital. She was treated on this occasion by Dr. Frank.

Gail's only living relatives at the time of her death were her sister, Theo; her aunt, Bell Martsolf; a cousin, Dee Stone, who practiced law in New York City, and a cousin, Mrs. Bowell, who lived at Harrisburg, Pennsylvania (R. 129).

Gail and Theo

Theo lived at the Swan home until she graduated from high school. In 1907, 1908 and 1909 she attended the University of California. In 1909, 1910 and 1911 she attended Vassar, an exclusive ~~high~~ school for women. She graduated from Vassar with an A.B. degree in 1911 (R. 98). Thereafter she attended the University of Utah where she received a B.S. degree (R. 141).

In 1911, 1912 and 1913 she taught school at Mountain Home, Idaho. In 1913 and 1914 she was in Europe on an extended vacation tour with a Mrs. Bogue and her daughter (R. 98, 99).

Theo married Harold (Deak) Hendee in 1914 and lived with him in the Eastern States until 1922, when she and her husband moved to San Francisco, California where Mr. Hendee worked for the Oakland Tribune, the Coast Banner and thereafter became editor of the Wall Street Journal (R. 104). During the years that followed, Theo visited at the Swan household an average of two or three times a year (R. 110-112). She also corresponded regularly with Gail and frequently called Gail by telephone (R. 112).

Theo and her husband led a socially active life at San Francisco (R. 142, 143). Mr. Hendee belonged to the Bohemian Club, Chamber of Commerce and Rotary Club. Theo belonged to such exclusive clubs as the San Fran-

cisco Musical Club, Pacific Musical Club, the Harp Club, the Forest Hill Garden Club, the Pi Phi Sorority and the Vassar Club (R. 142, 143).

Theo herself testified that as a result of the extreme difference in their social positions Gail had an inferiority complex in her relationship with Theo (R. 141).

Following the year 1935 Gail only visited at Theo's home on two occasions. She didn't feel at home at Theo's (R. 145). Aunt Bell Martsof testified to Gail's awareness of the difference in the social life between Gail and Theo (R. 293).

Gail had certain difficulties with Theo from time to time, and on more than one occasion had responded to Theo's questionings with the answer, "None of your business" (R. 131, 132, 167).

Another indication of difficulties between the two is demonstrated by Theo's testimony on cross-examination (R. 169):

"Q. You wrote Macfarlane didn't you, a letter, or Gayle Macfarlane, on the 27th of November, 1951, in which you said to Gayle, 'Caution Grant to remember I did not see any of you while we were in Salt Lake this time. If Gail found out I had called at the office, trouble might brew again. A little care is so important.'? Did you write her that?

"A. I think I did."

Mrs. Wagstaff testified that Gail thought Theo was ashamed of her, and also that Gail resented Theo sending cast off clothing to her (R. 695, 696, 699, 700).

Macfarlane testified to an occasion when Gail told him he would get his "walking papers" if he discussed her affairs with Theo again (R. 726).

Clair Mortensen, Trust Officer and Vice President of Walker Bank & Trust Company, testified that during the 18 years he had known Gail she had talked to him about Theo on at least 15 or 20 occasions up to her last illness and that on these occasions Gail had said Theo was amply provided for and she didn't intend to "leave her very much." (R. 486, 487).

After the Walker Bank took over management of Gail's property Mortensen became acquainted with Theo and Theo came to see him on a number of occasions. Gail found out about this. In this connection Mortensen testified (R. 478):

"Q. Did Gail say anything about it to you, about her coming up to see you about her, Gail's business?

"A. Yes.

"Q. What did she say?

"A. She said: 'Don't tell my sister anything about my business.'

"Q. Do you recall anything further being said by her along that line?

“A. Well, just that she made it very clear to me, and was very definite: ‘I don’t want my sister to see any of the records pertaining to my business. I don’t want her to know anything about my business.’

“Q. And did that type of conversation take place more than once after you took over the property management.?”

“A. On three or four occasions.”

Theo asked Gail about her will two months before her death and Gail told her nothing about its content (R. 128).

Mrs. Blanche Carney, Gail’s hairdresser, recalled conversations in which Gail had told her that Theo hadn’t been too kind to her (R. 818, 819). However, Macfarlane testified that the relationship between Gail and Theo improved not long before Gail’s death (R. 229).

Gail acquired one of the properties involved in this litigation by deed from her grandfather in the year 1911. She acquired the other properties in later life by deed from her father (Ex. D-18).

Theo had acquired property by deed from her grandfather valued at \$55,000. She had also received a valuable piece of property from her mother, as well as a piece of property below the Moxum Hotel from her father (R. 163, 165, 166).

Gail knew about the properties and revenues Theo was receiving (R. 166).

Gail and Daniel Kostopulos

Dan Kostopulos immigrated to the United States from Greece in his early youth. He had been in the theater business at Salt Lake City, Utah since 1924 (R. 317).

He met Grant Swan in 1932 at a theater Christmas party (R. 318).

He met Gail about six months later when Gail's father brought her to the theater. Thereafter, Gail and her father customarily dropped in at the theater to say hello to Kostopulos when they were downtown (R. 318).

The first time Kostopulos visited at the Swan home was in March of 1940 on the occasion of Mr. Swan's birthday. Thereafter Kostopulos became a frequent visitor. Mr. Swan called him "My big boy" (R. 319, 320). When Mr. Swan became ill in 1950 and had to be hospitalized Kostopulos was at the Swan household practically every day (R. 320). Kostopulos arranged for Mr. Swan's hospitalization during his last illness, and even rented a more comfortable bed for him.

Following Mr. Swan's death Gail depended more and more on Kostopulos for her daily needs (R. 341, 407).

Grace Folden testified that Gail frequently would telephone Dan, and either Dan or his wife would come and take her to town and bring her home (R. 341, 342, 412, 442).

Aunt Bell Martsolf testified (R. 269, 307):

“Gale depended on him for transportation into town; he was very attentive to take her * * *

* * *

“She called him a great many times on the phone for things she wanted, and he was very attentive and brought up whatever she wanted, maybe only a loaf of bread but he would come.”

Dr. Frank affirmed the fact that Gail had much affection for Dan (R. 534).

Mrs. Carney, Gail’s hairdresser, testified (R. 817):

“A * * * She spoke of Dan Kostopulos. Said that he had been her very best friend.”

Theo first met Kostopulos in 1946 at his theater. Thereafter she became well acquainted with Dan. She stated, “He came a great deal to the family home. He met me at the airport. He was very kind to me” (R. 127). Theo considered Kostopulos to be her friend (R. 329).

Kostopulos called Theo for advice from time to time when things went wrong at the Swan household (R. 337, 338).

Gail and Grant Macfarlane

Grant Macfarlane had practiced law at Salt Lake City, Utah since 1927 (R. 186).

He first became acquainted with Gail in September of 1944 (R. 187).

Jack Forsberg, an employee and friend of the Swan family, had referred Gail to Macfarlane in connection with a controversy she was having with the O.P.A. Macfarlane handled this matter for her (R. 187). In the Fall of 1944 Macfarlane saw Gail on four or five occasions. In November of that year she brought some abstracts to his office and asked him to be her regular attorney. She explained that Judge George Armstrong had been her attorney until his death; that thereafter Vernon Snyder had been her attorney (R. 188, 189). In 1945 Gail came to Macfarlane's office probably a dozen times, sometimes on business matters and sometimes for a friendly visit (R. 189, 190).

In the latter part of 1946 Macfarlane suffered an injury to his left eye consisting of a detached retina. An operation was successful but a later infection caused loss of the center vision of the eye. He was hospitalized or convalescing from October 2, 1946 to January 1, 1947 (R. 192). Gail executed her will just three months later. In connection with Gail's reaction to Macfarlane's misfortune, he testified (R. 713, 714):

“A. Well, she indicated that—she said that I had five children to educate, that I had lost the sight of one eye, and if I ever sustained another injury that I might be blind, and that it would be difficult for me to practice.”

During 1947, 1948, 1949, and 1950 Gail continued to come to Macfarlane's office for professional advice and

for social visits, and during this time Macfarlane and his wife and children paid visits to the Swan home (R. 195, 196).

Macfarlane received a detached retina injury to his right eye in November of 1950, and in January of 1951 he went to San Francisco for an operation (R. 199, 733). He was confined to the hospital approximately four weeks. Thereafter he stayed in San Francisco two weeks and spent an additional two weeks in Nevada. He returned to Salt Lake City on March 1, 1951 and first saw Gail in the latter part of March, 1951. At that time she told him she was sorry he had had so much difficulty and that she would like to be helpful to him and his family in any way that she could. Less than a month later she executed the second codicil to her will (R. 733).

Grace Folden, witness for the plaintiff, testified regarding Gail's attitude toward Grant Macfarlane as follows (R. 405):

“A. Yes. She thought a great deal of him. She thought whatever he done was perfect.”

She also testified that when Macfarlane had his second eye operation Gail worried until she had a severe epileptic seizure (R. 432).

Dr. Frank's card (Ex. 19) has a notation dated January 3, 1951, that the night before Gail had had an epileptic attack, that she “has been worrying about lawyer friend's eyes.”

Mrs. Carney corroborated other testimony that Gail had much affection for Macfarlane and was very worried about his eye condition (R. 818).

Mortensen had six or eight conversations with Gail pertaining to her will, in which Gail told him that she was concerned about Macfarlane's condition, and wanted to do something for him and his family (R. 489, 490).

Macfarlane met Grant Swan in 1945 at Gail's request. Thereafter his relationship with Mr. Swan was very friendly and congenial. They discussed Mr. Swan's early years and various ranching activities in Wyoming. They likewise discussed the comparisons between the names of the two families, Grant Swan, Grant Macfarlane, Gail Swan and Gayle Macfarlane (R. 711).

When Mr. Swan and Mr. Beam had a misunderstanding, Macfarlane helped make peace (R. 712). Macfarlane advised and assisted Mr. Swan in connection with an assault and battery charge when a gardner struck Mr. Swan with a garden rake (R. 713). He also handled several business matters for Mr. Swan, including preparation of Mr. Swan's will on the 31st of December, 1946 (R. 200).

Macfarlane was very attentive to Mr. Swan during his last illness at the Miners Hospital (R. 711).

Macfarlane met Theo sometime in the year 1948 (R. 193). Thereafter Theo visited his office from time to time on her trips to Salt Lake and on occasions discussed problems at the Swan home with him.

Theo saw Macfarlane once or twice in 1949; two or three times in 1950 and twice in 1952 on occasions when Gail was hospitalized. In addition to these occasions she saw him from time to time at the family home (R. 125).

Theo testified that Gail called her by telephone when Macfarlane was at San Francisco for his eye operation; that Gail was very distressed. Thereafter, Theo saw Mr. and Mrs. Macfarlane and assisted them in every way possible during their stay at San Francisco (R. 124).

She looked upon Macfarlane as a friend and relied upon him to keep her advised as to conditions at the Swan household (R. 196-199).

Gail and the Bridges

In 1944 Joseph Lamar Bridge was in the army, and Ada, his wife, was helping with family finances by selling eggs and butter. She first became acquainted with Gail as a customer. As time passed, she and Gail became very well acquainted (R. 604). After Mr. Bridge returned from the service in December of 1945 he also became acquainted with Gail (R. 605). The Bridges enjoyed their growing friendship with Gail. They spent many evenings

at the Swan home playing Canasta with her and Mr. Beam (R. 605). This practice continued until the time of Gail's death (R. 605).

The Bridges had six children. They allowed Gail to name the two youngest Mary Blanche and Edward Grant after her mother and grandfather (R. 607, 627). She attended the christening and even bought the christening dress for the youngest one (R. 772).

Gail frequently spent a day at the Bridge home. The Bridges treated her like a member of their family (R. 624). They even had one room in their home which they called "Gail's room" (R. 433, 434).

Ada often accompanied Gail on shopping trips. They would usually go to Auerbach's and the Floraine Fashions at Sugarhouse (R. 608). Ada helped Gail select the range, refrigerator and other equipment for her kitchen (R. 612). She also helped select materials for Gail's drapes in the living room (R. 622).

On occasions Gail gave Ada gifts. She gave Ada a ring for her birthday which had been given to Gail by her mother. She gave her hose for Christmas and her birthday (R. 620, 621).

On one occasion Gail learned that the Bridges were abandoning a planned vacation trip because they couldn't afford a needed set of tires. She insisted on giving them \$100.00 to purchase the tires rather than see the family

disappointed (R. 631, 632). On another occasion the Bridges were endeavoring to build a home. They had completed a basement apartment but the roof was leaking and they couldn't afford to place a roof on the home at that time. Gail insisted on loaning them the money for this purpose. The loan was in the amount of \$3,000. Thereafter Mr. Bridge performed certain work for Gail on her various properties and she would give him credit on the loan. On some occasions she gave him credits on the loan which were in the nature of gifts (R. 644, 645).

Aunt Bell Martsolf testified the relationship between Gail and the Bridges was "very intimate" (R. 277), and that Mr. Swan also was very fond of the Bridges (R. 314, 317). Mrs. Folden testified that the relationship between Gail and Mr. and Mrs. Bridges was "very affectionate" (R. 412).

Gail and Oscar Burnside Beam

Oscar Burnside Beam testified that he was 83 years of age; that he was a cook by profession during his active years; that he had moved to Salt Lake City in 1938.

He met Gail in 1942 when he was papering a room for one of Gail's tenants. Thereafter Gail introduced him to her father (R. 588). Eventually Beam became a frequent visitor at the Swan household. He took care of the lawn and performed other chores for the Swans (R. 588, 589).

In about 1947 it became his custom to be at the Swan home every day, and to stay for the evening meal (R. 589, 590), and thereafter to play Chinese checkers or Canasta with Gail and various of her friends. He became very well acquainted with Theo during these years and also became acquainted with Kostopulos, Macfarlane, the Bridges and the Franks (R. 592-594, 598, 599).

He characterized his relationship with Gail as, "We are good friends" and his relationship with Theo as, "We were very good friends" (R. 594, 595).

Macfarlane testified that he had talked with Gail about Mr. Beam on probably two or more occasions, and that on these occasions Gail had told him that Beam had been a faithful person and would always have a home in the Swan household. He also discussed Mr. Beam's age with Gail (R. 733, 734). At the time of trial Beam lived at the Swan home at 1335 Perry Avenue, where Theo was also living (R. 588).

Grant Macfarlane, Dan Kostopulos and the Bridges

Macfarlane became acquainted with Kostopulos when Mr. Swan was taken to the Holy Cross Hospital during his last illness in June of 1950 (R. 757). The next time Macfarlane saw Kostopulos was shortly after Macfarlane's second eye operation when Kostopulos took Gail to Macfarlane's home and the two of them took him for a short walk (R. 757). Thereafter Macfarlane saw Kostopulos only a few times (R. 758).

Macfarlane met the Bridges at the Swan home when they were playing Canasta one evening with Gail. He had only seen them on two or three occasions prior to Gail's death (R. 758).

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