1955

Theo Swan Hendee v. Walker Bank & Trust Co. et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

With respect to Gail's testamentary capacity we are willing to here repeat the statement we made in our memorandum to the trial court, that the proof of lack of testamentary capacity in the record is less compelling than that of undue influence. If Gail's mental capacity could have been considered in a vacuum wholly unrelated to the circumstances of her life and the pressure and influences which were exerted upon her, one might conclude that she had mentality enough to understand her property and select those to whom she desired to bequeath it.

This case is in some of its aspects much like *In Re Hanson's Estate*, 87 Utah 580, 52 Pac. (2d) 1103. At the end of its opinion in that case this court said:

"While there may be some doubt as to whether the decedent lacked testamentary capacity, there is no doubt but that it was a mind easily capable of being influenced. The evidence relating to Marie's mentality and general nervous control is therefore material and of aid not only in determining testamentary capacity, but to determine what sort of a subject Dr. McDonald had to play upon."

It has been established in this case beyond any reasonable dispute that Gail was of simple and childish mind and of subnormal emotional development. She was a weak and ready subject for the play of influence by Macfarlane and Kostopulos. As stated by this court in the Hanson case, a strong mind might have withstood the influence of Macfarlane and Kostopulos, but Gail's childish and susceptible mind gave way to the influence of those who occupied a

confidential relationship toward her, and once it had yielded to the strong minds of those about her she no longer had a testamentary capacity.

Evidence of her inability to persist in any mental decision was made clear by the testimony of Dr. Darke. Just before she signed the second codicil she gave to Dr. Darke and Dr. Nielson the names of those whom she expected to be her beneficiaries. She named seven persons, who were to be the objects of her bounty, and yet almost immediately thereafter put her signature to a document by which she eliminated three of those seven persons.

With respect to the finding of the court that the will and the codicils resulted from the fraud and undue influence of the defendants, Macfarlane and Kostopulas, our research has taught us that no court of last resort has ever held that facts such as those related above are insufficient to sustain a judgment setting aside a will. On the contrary, testamentary documents such as those here under attack in similar circumstances have been universally condemned by the courts.

Macfarlane was a mature and seasoned lawyer and business man. He was Gail's attorney at law, her attorney in fact and her confidential friend. Gail, on the other hand, was a childish and simple woman lacking in normal emotional development. She bestowed upon him and he accepted her full confidence. Macfarlane prepared and supervised the execution of her will and both codicils by which he would enrich himself to the extent of approximately \$100,000.00, or substantially more than one-third of her entire estate.

Not only was Gail the weak one and Macfarlane the strong one, but in connection with the execution of the

purported will and codicils she had no independent advice. No such advice was ever suggested, and Gail relied solely upon the advice of her beneficiary.

Kostopulos was Gails confidential friend. She bestowed upon him and he accepted her full confidence. He participated in the execution of the second codicil by which he also would be enriched to the amount of approximately \$100,000.00.

The foregoing are the essential or basic facts of the case and they cannot be evaporated or combed out of the record by resort to any legal or equitable phraseology or nomenclature. They are facts, not inferences or presumptions. Being the facts of the case they lead to certain legal results. As to what those legal results are, our views and those of appellants are in direct conflict.

Appellants admit that the facts of the case give rise to a presumption of undue influence because of the confidential relationship existing between Gail and the defendants, but they assert that as soon as Macfarlane and Kostopulos testified respecting the execution of the testamentary documents the probative force of the facts above referred to, as well as any presumption produced thereby, vanished and nothing remained in the case to sustain a judgment for contestants.

Our contention is that the facts above recited are so full of weight and substance, and are of such probative force, that they compel a conclusion of fraud and undue influence until the absence of such vices is affirmatively and clearly shown by the defense.

Upon filing her contest alleging fraud and undue influence contestant assumed the burden of proof. In discharge of that burden she made proof of the basic facts

above detailed. When such proof was made the burden was then cast upon defendants to prove by clear and convincing evidence the absence of fraud and undue influence. It was up to the trial court as the trier of the facts to determine whether defendant had furnished the necessary proof. Death had stilled the tongue of Gail, and the trial court was not required to accept the mere statement of Macfarlane or Kostopulos with respect to the presence or absence of fraud or undue influence. The trial court was at liberty and he was charged with the duty of evaluating the credibility of Macfarlane and Kostopulos, and weighing the quantum and the quality of their evidence against the facts which so powerfully bespeak the exercise of fraud and undue influence. The rule just stated and for which we here contend has been announced by many courts of last resort, and except for one or two possible exceptions to which we will refer they are unanimous in supporting our position.

It is appropriate to first give consideration to the decisions of this court. No will case has been before this court involving facts comparable to those contained in the record just now under review. The nearest is the case of *In Re Hanson's Will*, supra. This court had no difficulty in that case in sustaining a finding of the lower court that the will was the product of undue influence.

It is contended by appellants in their brief, and the contention is much labored, that the presumption vanishes when evidence comes into the case. By their argument they would induce the court to rule that no matter how close the confidential relationship, no matter how weak the one bestowing confidence, and no matter how strong the other, a court or jury would be unable to find the existence

of undue influence if the beneficiary of the confidential relationship should simply deny the existence of fraud or undue influence. Such a ruling would be contrary to all the authority upon the subject and to the sound social policy of maintaining decent confidential relationships. Appellants' position, if accepted, would result in an adjudication that *any* presumption created by the facts disappears when there is testimony relating to the subject. That such is not the law is perfectly obvious.

Approached from some directions the meaning and effect of a presumption may seem to be altogether illusive, but there is no need for confusion in the application of the law to the facts of this case. This court's prior decisions and the abundant and almost unanimous authority from other jurisdictions leaves the matter clear. The legal results flowing from the relationship between the parties to this proceeding have been clearly recognized. Whether those results were referred to as presumptions is of no importance. The basic facts proven are of such substance and of such probative value that their establishment must result in the conviction that undue influence has been exercised, and such conviction can be dissipated and overcome only by clear and satisfactory proof that there was no undue influence.

Appellants refer to the legal result as a presumption and then argue that because such result is a presumption it vanishes from the case and cannot be weighed by the court in arriving at the court's conclusion. Some presumptions may disappear as soon as evidence of the facts is introduced, but many do not so disappear but persist to the very end. It depends upon their nature and their

quality, and upon the fact, or the absence of facts which give rise to their existence.

Perhaps the most widely known of all presumptions is the presumption of innocence which clings to a defendant charged with crime from the beginning to the end of the case. It takes proof beyond all reasonable doubt to overcome that presumption.

We will a little later refer to the many cases from other jurisdictions which have dealt with the situation presented by the evidence in this case. For the moment we desire to discuss the law of presumptions as announced by this Court. There is an exhaustive discussion of the subject by Mr. Justice Wade in his concurring opinion in the *Pilcher* case (114 Utah 72, 84). In that case it appears that Pilcher married Mabel in Lyon County, Kansas, in 1901. Children were born to the couple but Pilcher and Mabel separated and lived apart for many years. In 1941 Pilcher married Mildred in Logan, Utah. Pilcher thereafter died and Mildred, representing herself to be the surviving widow, applied for and received letters of administration. In the course of the administration of the estate a son of Mabel came from California to Logan and made a settlement with Mildred whereby he received \$3,000.00 from the estate for himself and his brothers and sisters. Thereafter Mildred filed her final account and petition for distribution. At that point Mabel filed her petition claiming that she was the surviving widow of Pilcher and asking that she be substituted as administratrix. She testified that she had never brought any divorce proceedings against Pilcher, and that she had never been served with any papers in any action instituted by Pilcher. She further testified that she had seen Pilcher not long before his death and that

Pilcher had told her that he had never divorced her. Mildred, on the other hand, testified that he had stated to her that he had divorced Mabel. The lower court, believing that Mabel was the surviving widow of Pilcher, entered its order discharging Mildred as administratrix and appointing Mabel. Upon appeal it was contended by Mildred that there was a presumption that her marriage to Pilcher in Logan in 1941 was a valid marriage which could be overcome only by clear and convincing evidence, and that Mabel had failed to produce any such proof.

This Court agreed with Mildred and reversed the lower court. In its final conclusion this court stated that there was a presumption of validity which attached to the marriage ceremony between Pilcher and Mildred, and he closed with this sentence: "Such presumption persists until it is overcome by clear, convincing and *conclusive* evidence."

The decision in the Pilcher case is a conclusive answer to the suggestion of the defendants that the presumption of undue influence has vanished from the instant case. One reason why this court assigned persistent vitality to the presumption of marriage is that such a presumption is socially desirable. It is socially desirable that persons in confidential and dominating relationship with subnormal people should not be allowed to capitalize upon that relationship.

It is especially desirable socially that the standards of members of the bar be maintained at such a level that clients may repose full confidence in their lawyers without fear that that confidence might be abused. It is noteworthy that this court in the Pilcher case ruled that to

overcome a socially desirable presumption the evidence must be "clear, convincing and conclusive."

Recently this Court again discussed presumptions in *Meacham v. Allen*, 262 P. (2d) 285. In that case this court affirmed a judgment against the contention of appellants that it was error for the trial court to instruct the jury that it might consider in arriving at its verdict the presumption that decedent was in the exercise of due care at the time of the fatal collision. In the course of its discussion on the subject of presumptions the court observed that some presumptions disappear when evidence was introduced, but it went on from there to say:

"* * * but there are other so-called presumptions, which require more than a prima facie case to make them ineffective. Some place the burden of proof, or persuasion on the party claiming the nonexistence of the presumed facts, others require clear and convincing evidence to overcome such presumption and still others require proof beyond a reasonable doubt before the trier of the facts may find that the presumed facts do not exist. In such cases the court in the first instance would have to determine that there is sufficient evidence to support the finding, and leave it to the jury to decide whether the evidence has the required persuasive force."

There are three decisions of this court which leave it clear beyond any doubt that the burden lay upon the defendants to clearly prove the absence of undue influence. They are *Peterson v. Budge*, 35 Utah 596, 102 Pac. 211, *Omega Investment Co. v. Woolley*, 72 Utah 474, 271 Pac. 797, and *Jardene v. Archibald*, decided Jan. 24, 1955 and

reported in the February 24th advance sheet of Pacific Reporter at page 454.

In the first of them it appears that Budge was a doctor and accepted a deed to real estate from Peterson who was his patient. Peterson sued to set aside the deed upon the ground that Budge took advantage of a confidential relationship and got the deed through undue influence. Budge denied the confidential relationship and the undue influence. The trial court found for Budge and dismissed the case. This court reversed and ordered findings in behalf of Peterson. The courts opinion fully supports our contentions in the case now under review. We take the liberty of here setting down an extended excerpt from the opinion:

“There is no rule of law more firmly established than that which holds that transactions between persons occupying fiduciary or confidential relations with each other, in which the stronger or superior party obtains an advantage over the other, cannot be upheld. In the case of *Viallet v. Con. Ry. & P. Co.*, 30 Utah 260, 84 Pac. 496, 5 L.R.A. (N.S.) 613, a question involving this same principle was before this court, and in the course of the opinion it said:

“The law is well settled that from the time the relation of physician and patient is created, until it ceases to exist, the physician is not only legally bound to act in the utmost good faith in his treatment of his patient professionally, but he is inhibited from taking advantage of the confidence growing out of this relation, reposed in him by his patient, and, by misrepresentation, or other unfair

means, or by the exercise of undue influence, induce his patient to convey, transfer, or otherwise dispose of, to such physician, or to other parties whom the physician may represent in other capacities valuable property rights for a wholly inadequate consideration.'

"And the rule is well settled that in actions of this kind, *where these confidential relations are shown to exist, the burden of proof is cast upon the superior party to establish the perfect fairness, adequacy of consideration, and equity of the transaction.* In Smith, Law of Fraud, section 190, the author says:

" 'While equity does not deny the possibility of valid transactions between the two parties, yet, because every fiduciary relation implies a condition of superiority held by one of the parties over the other, in every transaction between them by which the superior party obtains a possible benefit, equity raises a presumption against its validity, and *casts upon that party the burden of proving affirmatively its compliance with equitable requisites, and thereby overcoming the presumption.*'

"*It having been shown that the confidential relation of physician and patient existed between the Budes and Peterson at the time the sale took place, the burden of proof shifted, and it became necessary for the Budes, in order to uphold the sale, to show that it was for an adequate consideration, and that the entire transaction on their part was in every particular fair, just, and equitable.*"
(Italics supplied)

Omega Investment v. Woolley, supra, is even stronger. In that case it appears that Woolley procured an important stock interest in plaintiff corporation from Bald-

win, who owned control. Woolley was neither a lawyer nor a doctor, but he gained Baldwin's full confidence and the court held that Woolley stood in a confidential relationship to Baldwin. In affirming a judgment setting aside the transfer and restoring the stock the Supreme Court made some statements which vastly illuminate the case under discussion:

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